# Heat shock and thermotolerance in *Caenorhabditis elegans*: An overview of laboratory techniques

# Teresa Rubio-Tomás<sup>a,†</sup>, Eva Alegre-Cortés<sup>b,c,†</sup>, Eirini Lionaki<sup>a</sup>, José M. Fuentes<sup>b,c,d,\*</sup>, and Nektarios Tavernarakis<sup>a,e,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Institute of Molecular Biology and Biotechnology, Foundation for Research and Technology-Hellas, Heraklion, Greece

<sup>b</sup>Universidad de Extremadura, Departamento de Bioquímica y Biología Molecular y Genética, Facultad de Enfermería y Terapia Ocupacional, Cáceres, Spain

<sup>c</sup>Instituto Universitario de Investigación Biosanitaria de Extremadura (INUBE), Cáceres, Spain

<sup>d</sup>Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red en Enfermedades Neurodegenerativas-Instituto de Salud Carlos III (CIBER-CIBERNED-ISCIII), Madrid, Spain

<sup>e</sup>Division of Basic Sciences, School of Medicine, University of Crete, Heraklion, Greece

\*Corresponding authors: e-mail address: jfuentes@unex.es; tavernarakis@imbb.forth.gr

### Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Materials and methods	4
	2.1 Materials	4
	2.2 Equipment	6
	2.3 Maintenance of C. elegans	6
	2.4 Synchronization of worms	7
3.	Technical considerations for thermotolerance assays	8
4.	Thermotolerance assays	9
	4.1 Heat stress protocols for nematodes	9
5.	Concluding remarks	13
References		14
Further reading		16

### Abstract

The soil nematode worm *Caenorhabditis elegans* is a simple and well-established model for the study of many biological processes. Heat shock and thermotolerance assays have been developed for this nematode, and have been used to decipher the molecular relationships between thermal stress and aging, among others. Nevertheless, a systematic and methodological comparison of the different approaches and tools utilized is lacking in the literature. Here, we aim to provide a comprehensive summary of the most

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> These authors contributed equally to this work.

commonly used strategies for carrying out heat shock and thermotolerance assays that have been reported, highlighting specific readouts and scientific questions that can be addressed. Furthermore, we offer examples of thermotolerance assays performed with wild type nematodes, that can serve as a gauge of the animal survival under diverse conditions of stress.

## 1. Introduction

*Caenorhabditis elegans* is a wild free-living nematode. It has a small size (adults are 1 mm long), which makes animals easy to handle and allows researchers to cultivate them without the need of elaborate or expensive animal facilities. Their body is covered by a transparent cuticle, so one can easily observe individual cells and monitor developmental and physiological processes. Moreover, tagging different subcellular compartments with fluorescent proteins can be used to discern cellular or subcellular characteristics with enhanced detail (Eisenmann, 2005). *C. elegans* has a simple nervous system of just 302 neurons. Moreover, the genome of the nematode has been fully analyzed and annotated. Notably, 38% of the protein-coding genes of *C. elegans* have orthologues in the human genome and 60–80% of human genes have orthologues in the *C. elegans* genome (Markaki & Tavernarakis, 2020). In addition, 40% of human disease-associated genes have orthologues in *C. elegans*.

C. elegans can survive and reproduce across a range of temperatures from 12 to 26 °C (Schulenburg & Félix, 2017). As an ectotherm, C. elegans body temperature is determined by the environment. These animals suffer changes of temperatures along the day and night, and they have to seek temperatures conducive to survival and avoid dangerous temperature ranges. Thermosensation is critical for nematodes (Hoffstaetter, Bagriantsev, & Gracheva, 2018), which are able to detect and respond to temperatures changes as small as 0.01° in the laboratory (Ramot, MacInnis, & Goodman, 2008). The median lifespan of nematodes decreases with temperature, with the populations cultured at 25 °C (high temperature) to display the shortest median lifespan and those cultured at 15 °C (low temperature) to show the highest median lifespan (Xiao et al., 2013). Moreover, short term increases in environmental temperature cause heat stress and affect several aspects of nematodes' physiology from tissue and cellular integrity to life expectancy. High exposure to HS often causes tissue damage and shortens life expectancy, whilst short or mild stress induces a hormetic effect and promotes stress resistance and longevity (Prahlad, Cornelius, & Morimoto, 2008).

Nematodes have evolved diverse responses to exogenous and endogenous stresses in order to maintain homeostasis (Kumsta et al., 2017). Heat Shock Factor 1 (HSF-1 in nematodes) is the master regulator of the Heat Stress Response (HSR). Specifically, in response to increased temperature, the transcription factor HSF-1 binds to heat shock elements (HSEs) in the promoters of heat-inducible genes and induces expression of heat shock proteins (HSPs) and molecular chaperones (Guhathakurta et al., 2002). The target genes of HSR aim to eliminate toxicity caused by HS, which mainly involves accumulation of misfolded proteins. Interestingly, proteotoxicity deriving from unfolded protein accumulation often accompanies aging and contributes to the onset of neurodegenerative diseases (Richter et al., 2010). Therefore, overexpression of HSF-1 has been found to promote longevity, improve stress response and protect against age-related disease development and/or aggravation (Rattan, 2005; Zeng et al., 2021).

Apart from transcriptional reprogramming upon HSR, several other factors have been shown to impact the ability of animals to respond to HS. Epigenetic regulators (cbp-1 and swsn-1) and a stress-activated protein kinase (pmk-1) enhance resistance to pathogens, promoting longevity after early heat stress (Bokszczanin, Solanaceae Pollen Thermotolerance Initial Training Network (SPOT-ITN) Consortium, & Fragkostefanakis, 2013; Zhou, He, Deng, Pang, & Tang, 2019). Protein phosphorylation is essential in the regulation of nematode activities at high temperatures (Huang, Wu, & Zhang, 2020). In addition, phosphorylation is a key regulator that enables signal conversion in response to external environmental stimuli for a short period of time, indicating that it may also mediate mild responses to temperature stress in early life stages. Finally, besides the cell autonomous benefits conferred by the HSR, its cell non-autonomous effects are starting to emerge. Specifically, HSF-1 activation in thermosensory neurons triggers a HSR in distal tissues, like the intestine, the body wall muscles and reproductive organs, conferring protection against proteotoxicity (Fig. 1) (Douglas et al., 2015; Prahlad & Morimoto, 2009; Tatum et al., 2015).

Aging is the time-dependent functional decline that affects most living organisms. A better understanding of the molecular mechanisms during ageassociated health decline is essential in the search for a therapy of age-related diseases. Hallmarks that represent common denominators of aging in different organisms like chronic inflammation (Gomez, 2021) proteostasis decline (Fernández-Fernández, Gragera, Ochoa-Ibarrola, Quintana-Gallardo, & Valpuesta, 2017; Ferreira, da Rosa Soares, & Pereira, 2022), mitochondrial dysfunction (Li, Berliocchi, Li, & Rasmussen, 2024) and resistance to insulin (Karpe & Tikoo, 2014; Kuppuswami & Senthilkumar, 2023), are



**Fig. 1** HSF-1 in the nervous system of *C. elegans*. HSF-1 signals through thermosensory neurons and favors transcription of heat shock genes. It is also related with aging (Douglas, 2015).

associated with a decline in HSF1 function (López-Otín, Blasco, Partridge, Serrano, & Kroemer, 2023). Therefore, it becomes apparent that the identification of novel factors that regulate HSF-1 and HSR may provide new tools to combat age-related decline.

Here we describe published methods to assess nematodes thermotolerance highlighting the read outs and the scientific question that can be answered each time. Such assays can be used to screen for conditions that affect HSR and HSF-1 activation with critical impact on the animals' stress response in diverse genetic backgrounds. Furthermore, we offer an example of thermotolerance assays performed in our laboratory with wild type nematodes strain (N2) that can serve as a guide of the animal survival/mobility upon thermal stress.

# 2. Materials and methods

### 2.1 Materials

1. Pipette tips 2–200 µL Eppendorf<sup>®</sup> epT.I.P.S. (Eppendorf, catalogue number: 022492039)

- 2. Pipette tips 50–1000 µL Eppendorf<sup>®</sup> epT.I.P.S. (Eppendorf, catalogue number: 022492055)
- Petri dishes 60×15mm 500/cs (Fisher Scientific, catalogue number: FB0875713A) or Petri dishes 35×10mm 500/cs (Fisher Scientific, catalogue number: FB0875711YZ)
- 4. Eppendorf<sup>®</sup> Safe-Lock 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tubes (Eppendorf, catalogue number: 022363204)
- 5. Toothpick
- 6. 99.95% Platinum, 0.05% Iridium wire (3ft./pk) (Tritech Research, catalogue number: PT-9901)
- 7. OP50 Escherichia coli bacteria (University of Minnesota, C. elegans Genetics Center, MN)
- 8. HT115 E. coli strain (Source BioScience)
- 9. Experimental and control *C. elegans* strains (University of Minnesota, *C. elegans* Genetics Center (CGC), MN)
- 10. Sodium chloride (NaCl) (Sigma-Aldrich, catalogue number: S7653)
- 11. BactoPeptone (BD, BactoTM, catalogue number: 211677)
- 12. Agar (Sigma-Aldrich, catalogue number: A1296)
- **13.** Commercial Bleach 60 g/L
- **14.** Potassium phosphate monobasic (KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>) (Sigma-Aldrich, catalogue number: P5655)
- **15.** Cholesterol (Sigma-Aldrich, catalogue number: C8667)
- 16. 100% ethanol (Sigma-Aldrich, catalogue number: E7023)
- **17.** Magnesium sulfate heptahydrate (MgSO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O) (Sigma-Aldrich, catalogue number: M1880
- Calcium chloride dihydrate (CaCl<sub>2</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O) (Sigma-Aldrich, catalogue number: C3881)
- **19.** Potassium phosphate dibasic (K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>) (Sigma-Aldrich, catalogue number: P2222)
- 20. Sodium hydroxide (NaOH) (Sigma-Aldrich, catalogue number: S8045)
- **21.** Streptomycin sulfate salt powder (Sigma-Aldrich, catalogue number S6501)
- 22. Nematode growth medium (NGM) (see Recipes)
- 23. M9 buffer (see Recipes)
- 24. 5 mg/mL cholesterol (see Recipes)
- **25.** 1 M MgSO<sub>4</sub> (see Recipes)
- **26.**  $1 \text{ M CaCl}_2$  (see Recipes)
- 27. Phosphate buffer (see Recipes)
- 28. 1N NaOH (see Recipes)
- 29. S buffer (0.1 M NaCl and 0.05 M potassium phosphate buffer pH 6.0)

### 2.2 Equipment

- 1. Erlenmeyer flask (Fisher Scientific, catalogue number: FB5006000)
- 2. Pipetor (Gilson, catalogue number: F167300)
- Platinum worm pick. Worm picks can either be purchased (Genesee Scientific, catalogue number: 59-AWP) or made in-house as described in Wollenberg, Visvikis, Alves, and Irazoqui (2013)
- 4. Pasteur glass pipette (Fisher Scientific, catalogue number: 22-378893)
- 5. Autoclave
- 6. Stirring hotplate (Corning, catalogue number: 6795-620)
- 7. Centrifuge (Eppendorf, model: 5430)
- 8. Tabletop centrifuge (Eppendorf, model: 5424)
- **9.** Pellet pestle (Kimble Chase Life Science and Research Products, catalogue number: 7495211590)
- Refrigerated incubator (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Thermo ScientificTM, model: HerathermTM General Protocol Microbiological Incubators, catalogue number: 51028064)
- 11. Bunsen burner (Humbolt, catalogue number: H-5870)
- 12. Dissecting stereomicroscope (Olympus, model: SMZ645)
- 13. Incubators for stable temperature (AQUA<sup>®</sup> LYTIC incubator 20 °C)
- 14. Freezers (-20°C; So-Low Environmental Equipment) (Siemens, model: C85-22)
- 15. Water bath
- 16. 96-Well plate transparent bottom (Greiner Bio-One International GmbH, Kremsmünster, Austria)
- Tecan Infinite NANO+ plate reader (Tecan Group Ltd., Männedorf, Switzerland).
- 18. Gas perfused chamber (Echotherm IN35 incubator)
- **19.** Wheaton Unispense peristaltic pump liquid dispenser with digital display (American Laboratory Trading, model: 374301)

### 2.3 Maintenance of C. elegans

Maintain worms at 20 °C on Nematode Growth Medium (NGM) plates seeded with OP50 strain of *E. coli* bacteria by transferring approximately five to seven L4 animals per plate, depending on their ability to grow, self-fertilize and give rise to progeny. If a specific strain has a rapid life cycle it is better to transfer less than five L4 animals to avoid starvation. On the contrary, up to 10–15 worms can be transferred if a mutant strain grows slowly. **Note:** Take special care that they do not run out of food as starvation affects their physiology and results.

### Preparation of NGM plates

- Mix 6g NaCl, 5g BactoPeptone, 34g Agar, 0.4g streptomycin and deionized H<sub>2</sub>0 up to 1.5 L in a flask.
- Autoclave for sterilization.
- Let the mixture cool down to 55 °C.
- Add 2 mL CaCl<sub>2</sub> (1 M), 2 mL MgSO<sub>4</sub> (1 M), 2 mL Cholesterol (5 mg/mL), 2 mL Nystatin (10 mg/mL), 50 mL KPO4 (1 M) and deionized H<sub>2</sub>0 to full volume (2L). All the solutions and water added to the medium after autoclave must also be priorly sterilized through autoclave.
- Pour NGM medium in P60 Petri dishes (P60: 6 cm) with a peristaltic pump machine. Poor 7 mL NGM medium per plate.
- Let the plates dry for 1–2 days at RT.

### Seeding NGM plates with OP50

- Grow an overnight OP50 culture in LB medium at 37 °C.
- Add  $300\,\mu$ L of the OP50 culture in every plate.
- Let plates dry and OP50 grow by consuming cholesterol available on NGM overnight at RT. After that store them at 4°C.

# 2.4 Synchronization of worms

Worm synchronization can be achieved by egg laying or hypochlorite treatment (bleaching). For egg laying 10–15 gravid adults are placed on a seeded plate for 1–2 h at 20 °C and are allowed to lay eggs which hatch with 1–2 h time interval. Alternatively, eggs can be collected from gravid adults by hypochlorite treatment (bleaching) which dissolves their body and releases the embryos. Hypochlorite treatment consists of the following steps:

- Collect *C. elegans* using 1 mL/plate of M9.
- Centrifuge 2 min 8000 rpm or 1 min full speed.
- Discard 700 µL supernatant. Keep the pellet.
- Add 700  $\mu L$  bleaching buffer (7 mL dH2O+2 mL NaOCl (bleach) +1 mL NaOH (5 N)).
- Shake or vortex 5 min until the bodies are dissolved and the eggs are released in the bleaching solution (check periodically in the stereoscope).
- Centrifuge 2 min 8000 rpm.
- Discard supernatant and resuspend egg pellet in 1 mL of M9.
- Centrifuge 2 min 8000 rpm and repeat the wash in M9 twice.
- Discard supernatant.

- Resuspend the pellet in M9.
- Divide the egg suspension in the desired number of plates.

**Note:** Synchronization by hypochlorite treatment is not as precise as egg laying, since the collected embryos may hatch with an up to 12 h time interval. The common practice to precisely synchronize them is to allow them hatch in liquid medium without food and produce arrested L1 larvae. Upon refeeding, all arrested L1 larvae resume growth simultaneously and are precisely synchronized. However, one should consider that starvation in early developmental stages cause epigenetic alterations which persist and affect the life of the adults and their descendants (Markaki & Tavernarakis, 2020). Specifically, extended L1 arrest is able to increase thermotolerance of adults as well as of their F3 generation progeny. Therefore, synchronization by L1 arrest is not preferred for thermotolerance assays.

# 3. Technical considerations for thermotolerance assays

Heat shock can be performed either in a water bath or in an air incubator at the indicated temperature.

**Note:** The use of non-heat shocked control population is desirable; control *C. elegans* should be maintained at  $20 \,^{\circ}$ C for the duration of heat shock.

**Water bath** (adapted from Golden et al., 2020 and Smolentseva et al., 2017)

- (1) Pick 20–40 worms at the specific age to fresh NGM plates. Use at least 4 plates per condition to ensure reproducibility and statistical significance.
- (2) Wrap a thin trip of paraffin film twice around the plate to seal the edges.Note: Do not cover the bottom of the plate to avoid interference with heat transfer.

**Note:** Ensure that the paraffin film is secure, then water will enter the plate and the plate should not be used for data collection.

(3) Submerge the plates in a circulating water bath at the indicated temperature for the indicated time.

**Note:** Submerge the plates upside down using a test tube rack and a lead weight.

**Note:** Include a negative control sample, i.e., no heat shock, but submerged in a water bath.

- (4) Remove the plates from the water bath and drying with a paper towel.
- (5) Remove the paraffin film to recover the worms
- (6) Incubate the *C. elegans* at  $20 \,^{\circ}$ C for the desired time to allow recovery from heat shock.

Incubator (adapted from Kumsta et al., 2017 and used in our laboratory)

(1) For each strain, incubate 2–4 6 cm NGM plates with ~20–50 animals per plate of the desired age in a single layer in an air incubator at the indicated temperature for the indicated time.

**Note:** During both heat shock and recovery period plates should be placed upside down in a single layer, not stacked on top of each other. This arrangement ensures that the worm containing part of the plate does not come to close contact of with the metal parts of the incubator, and thus consistent temperature to all the plates. It is desirable to use a dedicated incubator that will not frequently open thus its temperature will not fluctuate.

# 4. Thermotolerance assays

### 4.1 Heat stress protocols for nematodes

Several protocols have been put forward to assay the capacity of nematodes to endure heat stress and elicit the HSR. These thermotolerance assays have been conducted with worms at a variety of ages and temperatures, ranging from 33 to 37 °C (Kiliçgün et al., 2011; Kiliçgün & Göksen, 2012; Rollins et al., 2017).

Well-established molecular biology techniques (qPCR, Western Blot, etc.) and behavioral assays, among other technical approaches, can be used to assess the effect of heat shock. Nonetheless, most studies evaluate survival and mobility of animals upon heat shock and recovery as a measurement of its thermotolerance capacity.

Furthermore, in order to provide a guidance for experimental design, we conducted two different thermotolerance survival assays on wild type worms (N2 strain).

1. Long-term survival after short heat shock

Animals can be stressed for a short period of time and their ability to cope with stress is assessed by their life expectancy after HS.

(a) Incubate nematodes at high temperature (e.g., 33 or 37 °C) for a few hours (e.g., 1–3h) (Guisbert et al., 2013; Tecle et al., 2021).

**Note:** In all *C. elegans* assays, starved worms behave in a different way and are a source of uncontrolled variability. Hence, if the plate contains starved worms, it is necessary to chunk or transfer the animals to new plates.

**Note:** In all thermotolerance assays, age is an important factor that affects survival and other readouts upon heat shock response. Thus, synchronization of worms is important prior to subject the animals to stress. The same protocol albeit with older nematodes (day 5 of adulthood), different results may be observed (Smolentseva et al., 2017).

**Note**: An extra step of recovery period at room temperature for 30 min can be used to allow the animals to adapt gradually to their normal growing temperature (20 °C) (Tecle et al., 2021).

- (b) Transfer heat stressed nematodes back to 20 °C incubator.
- (c) Assess long-term survival after heat shock. Score for survival and transfer animals to new plates every day to avoid progeny.

**Note:** Importantly, at least 50 individuals should be used for each experiment (which fit on one 60 mm NGM plate) and at least 3 experimental replicates per condition are necessary to reach a robust conclusion.

**Example:** We measured survival after heat shock during 2 weeks. For this purpose, we distributed 100 worms (D1) among two NGM plates and incubated them at 37 °C for 2h, 3h and 4h, or left untreated at 20 °C (0h). Immediately after heat shock, worms were placed at 20 °C and their survival was assessed every 24h (both mobile and immobile worms were count as alive). As shown in Fig. 2, the decrease in survival is dependent on the time that worms were heat shocked, with a sharp decrease in survival observed in worms that were incubated at 37 °C for 4h. Remarkably, the highest percentage of mortality was observed during the first 24–48h and worms that survived the first 4 days were mobile and very likely to survive for longer periods. Therefore, we suggest incubation of worms for 3h at 37 °C as the best time-point for comparison among untreated wild type worms and treated/knock out worms.

#### 2. Assess survival after short heat shock automatically

Resistance to heat stress can be measured with an automated survival scoring method (LFASS) based on detecting blue fluorescence, which is considered death (excitation = 360; emission = 435).

- (a) Add 200 worms/well to a black 96-well plate with a transparent bottom, which was placed in a Tecan Infinite NANO + plate reader preheated at 40°C.
- (b) Add sufficient frozen *E. coli* HT115 to prevent starvation, according to standard liquid culture protocols (Hibshman et al., 2021).



**Fig. 2** Long-term survival upon heat shock. Representative survival curves of worms incubated at 37 °C for 0, 2, 3 or 4h are depicted. Statistical significance was measured by Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) Test (\**P* value  $\leq 0.05$ ; \*\**P* value  $\leq 0.01$ ; \*\*\**P* value  $\leq 0.001$ ).

To avoid the plates from drying out during heat shock, the wells with no worms are filled with water and then the plate is sealed with Parafilm.

(c) Measure fluorescence at 2 min interval time over 24 h.

**Note:** The median survival of the worm population is deduced by the time point where the half-maximal blue fluorescence is achieved. For the wild type strain median survival is approximately 100 min under these conditions. The average percentage survival and standard deviation can be calculated with triplicates and statistical analysis can be applied (Zečić et al., 2022).

#### 3. HSR gene/protein expression after short HS

After short HS (e.g., incubation of nematodes at high temperature [e.g.,  $33 \,^{\circ}$ C or  $37 \,^{\circ}$ C] for a least 10 min and up to a few hours [e.g., 1–3h], similarly to protocol 1), the HSR may be assessed by expression of HSF-1 target genes and their protein products. It is imperative to allow animals to recover at 20  $^{\circ}$ C for 6–24 h after HS, prior to collecting RNA or protein extracts for these protocols. The recovery period allows for transcription and translation of these genes as well as for protein folding and fluorescence of fluorescent reporters.

#### 4. Chronic heat shock protocol

In this approach we assess the survival of animals upon severe HS which lasts for longer periods and/or with higher temperatures (Jovic et al., 2019) or 16 h (Wilson et al., 2006). A survival curve at the elevated temperature could then be formed. In this type of assays one can also assess for mobility instead of death as an end point.

- (a) Gather 100 synchronous animals at Day 1 of adulthood and place them in one plate. Use as many plates as the time points that need to be assessed.
- (b) Heat shock nematodes at 37 for up to 8h. Conversely, day 1 adult worms can be heat shocked at lower temperatures (e.g., 33 °C) for longer periods (e.g., more than 8 h). Worms of different ages exhibit different resistance to HS thus the time points need to be set accordingly.
- (c) At the end of each time point transfer the respective plate with the HS animals at 20 °C for a recovery period of 20–60 min.
- (d) Assess survival and/or mobility of the HS animals. Animals that are freely moving or move forward/backwards upon gentle touch are considered alive and mobile. Animals that move only their head or tail region of the body either freely or upon gentle touch are considered alive but immobile. Animals that do not respond to gentle touch are scored as dead.

**Example:** We performed this experiment by distributing 100 worms (day 1 of adulthood [D1]) in each NGM plate and incubated them at 37 °C for the indicated time. We use a different NGM plate for every time point tested. At the end of the HS period the respective plate was moved to the 20 °C degree incubator for 20 min to allow for recovery. At the end of the recovery period the animals were scored as mobile, immobile, and dead. Fig. 3 shows the percentage of the total number of worms falling into each category at each time point.

#### 5. Hormetic assays

The concept of hormesis posits that a mild stress instigates protective responses that increase fitness, stress response and survival. Similarly, nematodes that encounter a mild heat stress early in their lives display advantages later in adulthood. Induction of heat-shock proteins enhances proteostasis and lifespan and play a protective role in the pathological context of heat-stroke-associated neurodegeneration (Kumsta et al., 2017; Kourtis et al., 2012).

- (a) Plate 20–40 worms at the L4 stage of development.
- (b) Heat shock (preconditioning) worms for 15 min at 34 °C



**Fig. 3** Short-term survival and mobility upon heat shock. Representative graphical representation of mobile (free movement), immobile (movement upon touch) and dead nematodes were counted upon incubation at 37 °C for the indicated time and a recovery period of 20 min at 20 °C.

- (c) Incubate worms at 20 °C for 10 min for recovery
- (d) Heat shock (second stress) worms for 15 min at 39°C
- (e) Assess survival (see Fig. 2)

**Note:** As previously mentioned, age affects the effect of heat shock. Exposure on days 1, 3 and 5 of adulthood improves stress resistance and survival. The greatest effect is observed on day 1, whereas there is no significant effect on day 7, consistent with the idea that the ability of animals to respond to a hormetic treatment drops with age (Kumsta et al., 2017).

**Note:** Morphological signs of neurodegeneration and neuronal cell death can also be assessed by using fluorescent reporter strains and confocal microscopy. The presence of remnants of neuron cell bodies and neuron corpses, as well as axonal beading, indicate neurodegeneration.

## 5. Concluding remarks

Here we provide a collection of simple methods to assess thermotolerance in nematodes. Each protocol has slight variations and is suitable for different studies. Some of the presented methods could be used for high throughput screening for new factors that affect HSR. Moreover, we present examples of these methods performed with wild type animals, which can be used as a guide to choose the appropriate conditions to compare wild type to mutants or animals subjected to specific treatments. We anticipate that the advancement of multi-omics technics will revisit the HSR and we propose the use of *C. elegans* as a simple model organism, to screen for novel regulators of this response mechanism, that could serve as therapeutic targets for age-related diseases.

### References

- Bokszczanin, K. L., Solanaceae Pollen Thermotolerance Initial Training Network (SPOT-ITN) Consortium, & Fragkostefanakis, S. (2013). Perspectives on deciphering mechanisms underlying plant heat stress response and thermotolerance. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 4, 315. PMID: 23986766; PMCID: PMC3750488. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpls.2013.00315.
- Douglas, P. M., Baird, N. A., Simic, M. S., Uhlein, S., McCormick, M. A., Wolff, S. C., et al. (2015). Heterotypic signals from neural HSF-1 separate thermotolerance from longevity. *Cell Reports*, 12(7), 1196–1204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015.07.026. PMID: 26257177; PMCID: PMC4889220.
- Eisenmann, D. M. (2005). The C. elegans research community. WormBook. https://doi.org/10. 1895/wormbook.1.7.1.
- Fernández-Fernández, M. R., Gragera, M., Ochoa-Ibarrola, L., Quintana-Gallardo, L., & Valpuesta, J. M. (2017). Hsp70 - a master regulator in protein degradation. FEBS Letters, 591(17), 2648–2660. https://doi.org/10.1002/1873-3468.12751. PMID: 28696498.
- Ferreira, J. V., da Rosa Soares, A., & Pereira, P. (2022). Cell non-autonomous proteostasis regulation in aging and disease. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 16, 878296. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fnins.2022.878296. PMID: 35757551; PMCID: PMC9220288.
- Golden, N. L., Plagens, R. N., Kim Guisbert, K. S., & Guisbert, E. (2020). Standardized methods for measuring induction of the heat shock response in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, 2020(161), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3791/61030.
- Gomez, C. R. (2021). Role of heat shock proteins in aging and chronic inflammatory diseases. *Geroscience*, 43(5), 2515–2532. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11357-021-00394-2. PMID: 34241808; PMCID: PMC8599533.
- Guhathakurta, D., Palomar, L., Stormo, G. D., Tedesco, P., Johnson, T. E., Walker, D. W., et al. (2002). Identification of a novel cis-regulatory element involved in the heat shock response in Caenorhabditis elegans using microarray gene expression and computational methods. *Genome Research*, 12(5), 701–712. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.228902.
- Guisbert, E., Czyz, D. M., Richter, K., McMullen, P. D., & Morimoto, R. I. (2013). Identification of a tissue-selective heat shock response regulatory network. *PLoS Genetics*, 9(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1003466.
- Hibshman, J. D., Webster, A. K., & Baugh, L. R. (2021). Liquid-culture protocols for synchronous starvation, growth, dauer formation, and dietary restriction of Caenorhabditis elegans. STAR Protocols, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xpro.2020.100276.
- Hoffstaetter, L. J., Bagriantsev, S. N., & Gracheva, E. O. (2018). TRPs et al.: A molecular toolkit for thermosensory adaptations. *Pflügers Archiv: European Journal of Physiology*, 470(5), 745–759. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00424-018-2120-5. PMID: 29484488; PMCID: PMC5945325.
- Huang, J., Wu, Z., & Zhang, X. (2020). Short-term mild temperature-stress-induced alterations in the C. elegans phosphoproteome. International Journal of Molecular Sciences,

21(17), 6409. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21176409. PMID: 32899194; PMCID: PMC7504583.

- Jovic, K., Grilli, J., Sterken, M. G., Snoek, B. L., Riksen, J. A. G., Allesina, S., et al. (2019). Transcriptome resilience predicts thermotolerance in Caenorhabditis elegans. BMC Biology, 17(1), 102. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12915-019-0725-6.
- Karpe, P. A., & Tikoo, K. (2014). Heat shock prevents insulin resistance-induced vascular complications by augmenting angiotensin-(1-7) signaling. *Diabetes*, 63(3), 1124–1139. https://doi.org/10.2337/db13-1267.
- Kiliçgün, H., & Göksen, G. (2012). Life span effects of Hypericum perforatum extracts on Caenorhabditis elegans under heat stress. *Pharmacognosy Magazine*, 8(32), 325–328. https:// doi.org/10.4103/0973-1296.103666.
- Kiliçgün, H., Olgun, A., & Köksal, Z. (2011). Investigation of the protective effects of vitamin C, iron and desferrioxamine on heat stress resistance in the model organism Caenorhabditis elegans. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 10(78), 18034–18038. https:// doi.org/10.5897/AJB11.1687.
- Kourtis, N., Nikoletopoulou, V., & Tavernarakis, N. (2012). Small heat-shock proteins protect from heat-stroke-associated neurodegeneration. *Nature*, 490(7419), 213–218. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11417.
- Kumsta, C., Chang, J. T., Schmalz, J., & Hansen, M. (2017). Hormetic heat stress and HSF-1 induce autophagy to improve survival and proteostasis in C. elegans. *Nature Communications*, 8. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms14337.
- Kuppuswami, J., & Senthilkumar, G. P. (2023). Nutri-stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, and insulin resistance-role of heat shock proteins. *Cell Stress Chaperones*, 28(1), 35–48. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12192-022-01314-9. PMID: 36441381; PMCID: PMC9877269.
- Li, Y., Berliocchi, L., Li, Z., & Rasmussen, L. J. (2024). Interactions between mitochondrial dysfunction and other hallmarks of aging: Paving a path toward interventions that promote healthy old age. *Aging Cell*, 23(1), e13942. https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.13942. PMID: 37497653; PMCID: PMC10776122.
- López-Otín, C., Blasco, M. A., Partridge, L., Serrano, M., & Kroemer, G. (2023). Hallmarks of aging: An expanding universe. *Cell*, 186(2), 243–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell. 2022.11.001. PMID: 36599349.
- Markaki, M., & Tavernarakis, N. (2020). Caenorhabditis elegans as a model system for human diseases. In Current Opinion in Biotechnology (Vol. 63, pp. 118–125). Elsevier Ltd. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2019.12.011.
- Prahlad, V., Cornelius, T., & Morimoto, R. I. (2008). Regulation of the cellular heat shock response in Caenorhabditis elegans by thermosensory neurons. *Science*, 320(5877), 811–814. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1156093. PMID: 18467592; PMCID: PMC3429343.
- Prahlad, V., & Morimoto, R. I. (2009). Integrating the stress response: Lessons for neurodegenerative diseases from C. elegans. *Trends in Cell Biology*, 19(2), 52–61. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.tcb.2008.11.002. PMID: 19112021; PMCID: PMC4843516.
- Ramot, D., MacInnis, B. L., & Goodman, M. B. (2008). Bidirectional temperature-sensing by a single thermosensory neuron in C. elegans. *Nature Neuroscience*, 11(8), 908–915. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2157. PMID: 18660808; PMCID: PMC2587641.
- Rattan, S. I. S. (2005). Hormetic modulation of aging and longevity by mild heat stress. Dose-Response, 3(4). https://doi.org/10.2203/dose-response.003.04.008.
- Richter, K., Haslbeck, M., & Buchner, J. (2010). The heat shock response: Life on the verge of death. *Molecular Cell*, 40(2), 253–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel. 2010.10.006.
- Rollins, J. A., Howard, A. C., Dobbins, S. K., Washburn, E. H., & Rogers, A. N. (2017). Assessing health span in Caenorhabditis elegans: Lessons from short-lived mutants. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 72(4), 473–480. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glw248.

- Schulenburg, H., & Félix, M. A. (2017). The natural biotic environment of *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Genetics*, 206(1), 55–86. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.116.195511. PMID: 28476862; PMCID: PMC5419493.
- Smolentseva, O., Gusarov, I., Gautier, L., Shamovsky, I., Defrancesco, A. S., Losick, R., et al. (2017). Mechanism of biofilm-mediated stress resistance and lifespan extension in C. Elegans. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-07222-8.
- Tatum, M. C., Ooi, F. K., Chikka, M. R., Chauve, L., Martinez-Velazquez, L. A., Steinbusch, H. W. M., et al. (2015). Neuronal serotonin release triggers the heat shock response in C. elegans in the absence of temperature increase. *Current Biology*, 25(2), 163–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2014.11.040. PMID: 25557666; PMCID: PMC4840938.
- Tecle, E., Chhan, C. B., Franklin, L., Underwood, R. S., Hanna-Rose, W., & Troemel, E. R. (2021). The purine nucleoside phosphorylase pnp-1 regulates epithelial cell resistance to infection in C. elegans. *PLoS Pathogens*, 17(4), 1–25. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.ppat.1009350.
- Wilson, M. A., Shukitt-Hale, B., Kalt, W., Ingram, D. K., Joseph, J. A., & Wolkow, C. A. (2006). Blueberry polyphenols increase lifespan and thermotolerance in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Aging Cell*, 5(1), 59–68. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-9726.2006.00192.x.
- Wollenberg, A. C., Visvikis, O., Alves, A.-M. F., & Irazoqui, J. E. (2013). Staphylococcus aureus Killing Assay of *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Bio-protocol*, 3(19).
- Xiao, R., Zhang, B., Dong, Y., Gong, J., Xu, T., Liu, J., et al. (2013). A genetic program promotes C. elegans longevity at cold temperatures via a thermosensitive TRP channel. *Cell*, 152(4), 806–817. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.01.020. PMID: 23415228; PMCID: PMC3594097.
- Zečić, A., Dhondt, I., & Braeckman, B. P. (2022). Accumulation of glycogen and upregulation of LEA-1 in C. elegans daf-2(e1370) support stress resistance, not longevity. *Cell*, 11(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11020245.
- Zeng, W. Y., Tan, L., Han, C., Zheng, Z. Y., Wu, G. S., Luo, H. R., et al. (2021). Trigonelline extends the lifespan of *C. Elegans* and delays the progression of age-related diseases by activating AMPK, DAF-16, and HSF-1. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2021, 7656834. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/7656834. PMID: 34616504; PMCID: PMC8487828.
- Zhou, L., He, B., Deng, J., Pang, S., & Tang, H. (2019). Histone acetylation promotes long-lasting defense responses and longevity following early life heat stress. *PLOS Genetics*, 15(4), e1008122. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1008122. PMID: 31034475; PMCID: PMC6508741.

### Further reading

- Butov, A., Johnson, T., Cypser, J., Sannikov, I., Volkov, M., Sehl, M., et al. (2001). Hormesis and debilitation effects in stress experiments using the nematode worm *Caenorhabditis elegans*: The model of balance between cell damage and HSP levels. *Experimental Gerontology*, 37(1), 57–66. www.elsevier.com/locate/expgero.
- Dokladny, K., Myers, O. B., & Moseley, P. L. (2015). Heat shock response and autophagy— Cooperation and control. Autophagy, 11(2), 200–213. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15548627.2015.1009776.
- Dutta, D. J., Hashimoto-Torii, K., & Torii, M. (2020). Role of heat shock factor 1 in neural development and disorders. In A. A. A. Asea, & P. Kaur (Eds.), *Heat Shock Proteins in Inflammatory Diseases. Heat Shock Proteins*. (Vol 22). Cham: Springer. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/7515\_2020\_10.
- Labbadia, J., & Morimoto, R. I. (2015). Repression of the heat shock response is a programmed event at the onset of reproduction. *Molecular Cell*, 59(4), 639–650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2015.06.027.

- Lithgow, G. J., White, T. M., Hinerfeld, D. A., & Johnson, T. E. (1994). Thermotolerance of a long-lived mutant of Caenorhabditis elegans. *Journal of Gerontology*, 49(6), B270– B276. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronj/49.6.B270.
- Max, R., Esteban, O.-O., & Hannah, R. (2013). Life expectancy. Published Online at OurWorldInData.Org. Retrieved from:. https://Ourworldindata.Org/Life-Expectancy, [Online Resource].
- Mendenhall, A. R., Tedesco, P. M., Taylor, L. D., Lowe, A., Cypser, J. R., & Johnson, T. E. (2012). Expression of a single-copy hsp-16.2 reporter predicts life span. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 67(A(7)), 726–733. https:// doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glr225.
- Miller, D. L., Roth, M. B., & Mcknight, S. L. (2007). Hydrogen sulfide increases thermotolerance and lifespan in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104(51), 20618–20622.
- C. elegans Sequencing Consortium. (1998). Genome sequence of the nematode C. elegans: A platform for investigating biology. *Science*, 282(5396), 2012–2018. https://doi.org/10. 1126/science.282.5396.2012.
- Palikaras, K., SenGupta, T., Nilsen, H., & Tavernarakis, N. (2022). Assessment of dopaminergic neuron degeneration in a C. elegans model of Parkinson's disease. STAR Protocols, 3(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xpro.2022.101264.
- Park, H.-E. H., Jung, Y., & Lee, S.-J. V. (2017). Survival assays using Caenorhabditis elegans. Molecules and Cells, 40(2), 90–99. https://doi.org/10.14348/molcells.2017.0017.
- Rea, S. L., Wu, D., Cypser, J. R., Vaupel, J. W., & Johnson, T. E. (2005). A stress-sensitive reporter predicts longevity in isogenic populations of *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Nature Genetics*, 37(8), 894–898.
- Strayer, A., Wu, Z., Christen, Y., Link, C. D., & Luo, Y. (2003). Expression of the small heat-shock protein Hsp-16-2 in Caenorhabditis elegans is suppressed by Ginkgo biloba extract EGb 761. *The FASEB Journal*, 17(15), 2305–2307. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj. 03–0376fje.
- Walker, G. A., Walker, D. W., & Lithgow, G. J. (1998). A relationship between thermotolerance and longevity in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology Symposium Proceedings*, 3(1), 6–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/jidsymp.1998.3.